COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2014 DEC -5 PM 2: 50

STATE OF WASHINGTON

44289-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Court of Appeals treated the property acquired by these parties during an equity relationship as community property instead of as community-like property. Does such characterization of property extend the law to a common law marriage in conflict with precedent of the Supreme Court and between the Divisions?
- 2. Does the expansion of the equity relationship doctrine to recharacterize property characterized as separate property at acquisition as community property at termination of the relationship ignore the intentions to the parties, thus raising substantial issues of public interest?
- 3. Does retroactive application of community property rights to periods when that right was never available for these parties affront due process by divesting separate property interests without prior notice?
- 4. When an appeal is singularly focused on property distribution under the equity relationship doctrine, does the award of attorney's fees to the prevailing party on appeal conflict with Washington law?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties are two women who began dating in 1988. CP 364. At that time, Jean Walsh had an established orthopedic surgery practice in Fresno, California, and owned her own home. *Id*.

Throughout their relationship, Walsh and Reynolds maintained separate financial identities, rarely sharing joint expenses or assets. *Id.* The parties routinely titled property in the manner they intended to own it: if property was intended to be jointly owned, it was titled in both parties' names, if intended to be owned by only one, it was titled as such. *E.g.* CP 364-65, 367, 370.

Each woman had her own bank accounts, retirement accounts, vehicles and liabilities (credit cards). At times, the parties owned a "family" car, which was jointly titled. *Id.* CP 364-65. Walsh was always solely liable for the mortgages. CP 367. While Reynolds was an authorized user of two of Walsh's credit cards for household purchases, Walsh alone was liable for those debts. CP 364. When Walsh paid one of Reynold's credit cards, it was treated as a loan and repaid. The parties maintained this intentional manner of organizing their financial lives from the commencement of their relationship consistently until the relationship ended. *E.g.* CP 370. At no time during the parties' co-habitation were they eligible to be married in

their home jurisdiction, and they never chose to be legally married in other jurisdictions when that right became available. Both parties understood that the law did not recognize their relationship and took steps to confirm their intentions.

From the early years of the relationship, Reynolds received a salary for housekeeping and childcare services. CP 364. These funds were her own, and while paid by Walsh, Reynolds maintained these funds as separate. *Id.* Walsh paid the expenses relating to the home, or the children. CP 365. In total, Reynolds received more than \$500,000.00 of disposable income between 1990 and 2011. *Id.* She was free to invest, spend or save those funds without Walsh's interference. *Id.* 

The parties had three children: Julia, born to Walsh in 1992, Joseph, born to Walsh in 1996, and Emily, born to Reynolds in 1998. CP 364-65. Each child was cross-adopted by the other party. *Id.* This was the method available at the time to carry-out the intention of both parties to become a legal parent of each child.

On March 6, 2000, the parties registered as domestic partners in California. CP 366. The California domestic partnership was extremely limited in scope and offered no benefits to them. *Id.* The purpose behind registering was to stop being "invisible." RP 68-69.

When the parties registered, California domestic partnership law specifically provided no property rights. The law stated:

The Filing of the Declaration of Domestic Partnership pursuant to [AB 26] shall not, in and of itself, create any interest in, or rights to, any property, real or personal, owned by one partner in the other partner, including but not limited to, rights similar to community property or quasi-community property.

AB 26 Bill Analysis, Assembly Floor, 09/08/1999. CP 366.

The law created no duty to the registrants to keep a current address on file with the California Secretary of State. CP 367-68. Similarly, the law did not indicate that any obligations created by the registration could be altered in the future. California domestic partnership law was expanded in 2005 to add, in part, community property rights.

The parties moved to Washington in June 2000. CP 366. They thereafter received no notices regarding their domestic partnership from the State of California. CP 368.

The parties ultimately moved to a home in Federal Way. CP 367. Walsh used the proceeds from the sale of her previous home, and pre-inheritance funds from her father, to acquire and remodel the property. *Id.* Walsh was solely liable on the mortgage. Reynolds

made minimal financial contributions to the Federal Way home between its acquisition and the end of the relationship.

In August 2009, the parties registered as domestic partners in Washington. CP 368. Walsh entered into the registered domestic partnership for inheritance purposes. RP 91. Because the registered domestic partnership form stated that the status could be altered by will or deed, Walsh believed it not irrevocable. RP 44-45, 91. The parties separated seven months later, on March 14, 2010. CP 369. However, their romantic and intimate relationship had been over for approximately fifteen years. CP 365.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. An Equity Relationship is not a Marriage. Expansion of the Equity Relationship Doctrine in this Case Amounts to the Creation of Common Law Marriage.

The equity relationship doctrine<sup>1</sup> is not equivalent to marriage. Principles of the division of property are applied analogously. Doing otherwise would create a common law marriage which has been expressly renounced in Washington for 122 years. *In re McLaughlin's Estate*, 4 Wash. 570, 30 P. 651 (1892).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The evolution of the meretricious relationship doctrine has been marked by changes in the name of the doctrine from the meretricious relationship doctrine, to the equity relationship doctrine and the committed intimate relationship doctrine as identified in *Olver v. Fowler*, 131 Wn. App. 135, 140 n.9, 126 P.3d 69 (2006). To continue to consistently refer to the doctrine in the same manner as the Court of Appeals and the trial court, Petitioner will use the term "equity relationship doctrine."

To protect the equity relationship doctrine from becoming a common law marriage, the Court has recognized limitations. For example, the equity relationship doctrine does not create community property, it does not afford a partner in such relationship the rights of a "spouse" for purposes of the wrongful death statute, and does not trigger the marital compensation provision under the unemployment compensation statute. *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339, 349-50, 898 P.2d 831 (1995) (citing *Roe v. Ludtke Trucking, Inc.*, 46 Wn. App. 816, 732 P.2d 1021 (1987); *Davis v. Dep't of Emp. Sec.*, 108 Wn.2d 272, 278-79, 737 P.2d 1262 (1987). The laws of property division at the end of a marriage do not directly apply, but offer guidance. *Id.* 

To divide property, the Court first determines whether an equity relationship exists, then evaluates the interest each party has in the property acquired, and only then makes a just and equitable distribution of the community-like property. *Soltero v. Wimer*, 159 Wn.2d 428, 433, 150 P.3d 552 (2007). Unlike a marriage, however, the property acquired during the relationship is not presumed community property. *Id.* at 434. Instead, property acquired during the equity relationship is presumed "community-like" property, a presumption that is rebuttable. *Id.* Significantly, the separate property of the parties is *not* subject to distribution. *Id.* (emphasis in original). Indeed, the court lacks

jurisdiction over separate property. *Connell*, 127 Wn.2d at 352 ("In summary, we hold that property which would have been characterized as separate property had the couple been married is not before the trial court for division at the end of the relationship.").

In this case, the parties began their relationship in 1988 and could not marry for most of their relationship.<sup>2</sup> Marriage was not legally available to same sex couples in any jurisdiction for the majority of that period. Instead, the parties intentionally organized their lives consistent with their awareness that they did not (and could not) have a legal marriage. Walsh and Reynolds titled and held property with precise consistency as "yours, mine, or ours." Any presumption that the parties created community-like property was rebuttable, not only by demonstration of separate property rights acquired before the relationship, but by the parties' intention to maintain property in the forms of ownership available to them throughout their relationship (i.e., joint tenancy and separate bank accounts).

The Opinion, however, disposes of the second prong of analysis (analyzing the character of each parties' interest in property), and dissolves the concept of "community-like" property within an equity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The record reflects that the parties knew lawful same-sex marriage was available in nearby jurisdictions such as in Canada and, briefly, in California.

relationship. Instead, the Opinion removes the characterization of "community-like" from the discussion, and expressly instructs the trial court to treat property acquired prior to 2005 as community property. RCW 26.16.010-030 has not been treated as definitive in application because the relationship is not a marriage. Pursuant to that statute, the characterization of property as community or separate attaches upon acquisition, with each party acquiring an undivided one-half interest in community property. Community-like property is applied by analogy at the termination of an equity relationship.

The Opinion disregards the distinction of applying community property concepts by analogy, not as a rule. One particular distribution is illustrative. After ruling that "the trial court correctly concluded as a matter of law that Walsh and Reynolds owned the Federal Way property as tenants in common," (A 22) the Court treated the asset (acquired years before the Washington domestic partnership registration) as if subject to a dissolution of a marriage, when all property is before the Court.

Nevertheless, in a dissolution proceedings, a trial court has discretion to divide the parties' assets in a manner that it determines is "just and equitable." *In re Marriage of Farmer*, 172 Wn.2d 616, 625, 259 P.3d 256 (2011) (quoting RCW 26.09.080). Considering Reynolds' non-financial contributions to the property and *regardless of Walsh's claims of her separate property contributions*,

the trial court here exercised this discretion, by awarding Reynolds "close to a 50 [percent] share in the equity in the Federal Way home."

Pg. 23 (emphasis added). The Federal Way home was an asset acquired by separate funds. It was improved with separate funds. As tenants in common, each was entitled to only their proportionate share. *See Iredell v. Iredell*, 49 Wn.2d 627, 305 P.2d 805 (1957); *West v. Knowles*, 50 Wn.2d 311, 311 P.2d 689 (1957). Instead, the Opinion disregards Walsh's separate investment and treats separate property as before the Court for distribution upon the finding of an equity relationship. The Court neither considered nor discussed that the presumption was rebuttable. Indeed, the Opinion contains a section headed "Community Property," which fails to consider the character or interest in property, despite evidence in the record that significant assets were Walsh's separate property. A 9-11.

The titling of property was not by happenstance, or custom (with the intent of joint ownership through a marital-like relationship), but rather intentional. *Compare Olver*, *supra* (the parties titled property in the man's name, consistent with customs of their culture). Instead of considering whether property was "community-like" or "quasi-community" property, the Court of Appeals instructs the trial court to "(1) reconsider whether the parties had a common law 'equity

relationship' before January 1, 2005; and (2) if so, to redistribute the parties' community assets accordingly." A 2. This mandate confers jurisdiction over separate property which, prior to this decision, has not been subject to distribution. It is also termed property acquired during an equity relationship as "community assets" not quasi or community like. By extending the "rights and protections of marriage," the Court has expanded the doctrine to transform property acquired by an unmarried co-habitant to "community."

The Opinion is in conflict with decisions issued by this Court, and all divisions of the Court of Appeals that have recognized (1) property acquired during an equity relationship is not community property, but community-like or quasi-community property, (2) this presumption is rebuttable, and (3) the Court lacks jurisdiction over separate property.

Treating unmarried co-habiting parties as having acquired community property, and ignoring that the presumption is rebuttable, the Opinion makes this doctrine akin to a common law marriage. The public has a significant interest in prohibiting common law marriage, especially one that arises without notice or opportunity to opt out.

Common law marriages were expressly abolished in Washington, and the Court and the Legislature have consistently recognized that

marriage is created only by statute. While the expansion of property distribution rights under the equity relationship doctrine does not confer all of the rights and benefits of marriage, it erodes a critical distinction between this doctrine applying to cohabitants who have "knowledge that a lawful marriage between them does not exist," *In re Marriage of Lindsey*, 101 Wn.2d 299, 304, 678 P.2d 328 (1984), and a marriage.

Time and time again, the Court has reiterated that an equity relationship is *not* a marriage. *See Peffley-Warner v. Bowen*, 113 Wn.2d 243, 253, 778 P.2d 1022 (1989) (a woman is not a wife under the meretricious relationship doctrine and cannot receive a share as a "spouse" under the intestate succession laws). *In re Long & Fregeau*, 158 Wn. App. 919, 929, 244 P.3d 26 (2011). No other Division of the Court of Appeals has held that the parties acquire *community property* as if they were married.

2. Substantial Public Interest is served by Giving Significant Weight to Parties' Intentions with Regard to the Characterization and Ownership of Separate Property, Even under the Equity Relationship Doctrine.

To treat unmarried parties as if married, but only with regard to the distribution of property at the termination of the relationship, contravenes the public interest to allow individuals to organize their lives as they choose, foisting upon them a distribution that does not result in equity.

In Connell, the Court recognized that the parties to an equity relationship chose not to get married (although available), and therefore separate property is not before the Court. Connell v. Francisco, 127 Wn.2d 339, 350, 898 P.2d 831 (1995). See also In re Pennington, 142 Wn.2d 592, 604, 14 P.3d 764 (2000). The Court acknowledged that this limitation preserves the distinction between married and unmarried persons. When parties choose not to marry, or as here, when marriage is not legally available to the parties, they can intentionally acquire or maintain their property, and share or refrain from joint ownership interests. Expanding the equity relationship doctrine ultimately treats two individuals, who never intended to jointly own property, as if they were married. Longevity of a relationship alone, absent any commingling of assets, should be insufficient to retroactively create community property rights. To do so contravenes the right to acquire and hold separate property. Having been discriminated against by the denial of the right to legally marry, Walsh is now treated as though that history did not exist.

Walsh's argument does not seek to revert to *Creasman v. Boyle*, 31 Wn.2d 345, 196 P.2d 835 (1948), but instead asks the Court to

recognize that the retroactive application of a common law doctrine has dismantled the only legal mechanism these parties had at the time: the manner in which they could establish separately or jointly owned property. Instead, Walsh asks this Court to give effect to the parties' intention as exemplified by 22 years of careful and consistent application of titling property in the manner in which it was owned. These parties were keenly aware that their relationship had no legal recognition except as advanced by state law. Great weight should be given to the intention of these parties to maintain separate property.

Same-sex couples may now choose the certainty of a legal marriage. Here, applying a doctrine that was unavailable to these parties presumes they could or should have known to acquire and hold property in a different manner. It effectively removes the ability of unmarried individuals to choose how one acquires property at the time of acquisition.

The facts of this case highlight the public's interest in protecting the ability to choose to not marry, without being treated by the Court at the termination of the relationship as if married. Marriage was not available to these parties throughout most of their relationship. The Court should preserve the rights of individuals and accept review of the Opinion.

# 3. Retroactively Divesting a Party's Vested Separate Property Rights Violates Fundamental Concepts of Due Process and Raises Significant Issues of Public Concern.

At no point during these parties' relationship could they marry in Washington. The Court of Appeals decided that the equity relationship doctrine extended community property rights to these parties before their Washington registered domestic partnership in 2009, and even before 2005 when the parties could first have had notice of the potential for acquiring community property rights (in California).

The trial court concluded:

Application of the equity relationship doctrine prior to the January 1, 2005 effective date of California's expanded domestic partnership law would deprive these individuals of vested property rights without due process of law.

CP 372. Neither party challenged this finding on appeal.

Not until the amendment to the 2008 Domestic Partnership Act in Washington, were community property rights granted to Washington registered domestic partners. Only then could either party have been on notice that a domestic partnership could be deemed to create community property rights. Until then, community property rights were available only through marriage. In 1988, when the parties' relationship began, the equity relationship doctrine was in its early

stages. (*Lindsey*, which overturned the *Creasman* presumption, was decided in 1984).

The Court of Appeals rejected the significance of the expansion of the Washington and California statutes as providing the first opportunity for notice to the parties that community property rights may apply, and instead relied on the equity relationship doctrine. Even under that doctrine, no same-sex couple in Washington would have had notice that they could be deemed to acquire community-like property rights until 2005.<sup>3</sup> *Gormley v. Robertson*, 120 Wn. App. 31, 83 P.3d 1042 (2004).

The state of the law and public opinion has changed with regards to equal rights for same-sex couples, but the Court cannot ignore or pretend that the law was different during these parties' relationship. The rights that are available to same-sex couples now were not available to this couple when they acquired property. Retroactively applying the equity relationship doctrine to a time when the law did not provide these rights to the parties, has caused a divestment of separate property rights: the parties had no notice, nor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Arguably, the earliest a party could have considered this doctrine to apply to samesex couples was 2001 when this Court issued the Opinion in *Vasquez v. Hawthorne*. But there, only in dicta did the Court rule that the application of the equity doctrine did not depend on the legality of the relationship. The Court did not expressly apply the rights afforded under an equity relationship doctrine to same sex couples.

any reason to believe that the property they acquired would be distributed years later in a way different from how each titled their property.

Fundamental notions of fairness and due process are affronted when a person's separate property rights are divested by retroactive application of a judicially created doctrine that creates new rights and obligations at the termination of the relationship that were never available to them during the relationship. Judicial enforcement of relationships between individuals has been deemed sufficient state action to constitute a violation of constitutional rights. *Shelley v. Kramer*, 341 U.S. 1, 68 S. Ct. 836 (1948). Here, by consistently referring to property acquired even before 2005 as community property (not "community-like" or "quasi-community"), the Court divested Walsh's separate property rights by judicial fiat.

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