RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 05, 2015, 4:53 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Cause No. 91078-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

In re the Domestic Partnership of:

JEAN M. WALSH,

Petitioner,

and

KATHRYN L. REYNOLDS,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

In 2007, the Washington Legislature passed a law that allowed same-sex couples to register as domestic partners. SSB 5336, ch. 156, Laws of 2007. Similar to the 2000 version of the California law, the 2007 Washington law granted rights to same-sex couples limited to "hospital visitation, health care decision-making, organ donation decisions, and other issues related to illness, incapacity, and death." RCW 26.60.010. In 2009, the Legislature amended the statute to ensure that domestic partners are "treated the same as married spouses." E2SSB 5688, ch. 521, Laws of 2009; RCW 26.60.015. Soon after the amended law went into effect, on August 20, 2009, Dr. Walsh and Reynolds registered as domestic partners in Washington State. (FF 2.20(28), CP 369; Ex. 40)

 The trial court refused to acknowledge the parties' relationship prior to 2005, when California statutes first granted domestic partners the same property rights as spouses.

On March 11, 2011, Dr. Walsh petitioned to dissolve the parties' domestic partnership. (FF 2.20(36), CP 370; Ex. 109) By then, the parties had amassed over \$2 million in real property, retirement, and investment accounts, mostly held in Dr. Walsh's name. (See CP 4, 31) Dr. Walsh took the position that the only property available for distribution was that acquired after the parties registered their domestic partnership in Washington on August 20, 2009, less than two years before trial. (See CP 152-69) Reynolds asked the court to consider all property acquired during their 22-year relationship in making a just and equitable distribution. (See CP 106-14)

After a three-day trial, the trial court recognized that "if the two people in this case were a heterosexual couple that had been cohabiting since 1988, bore three children and had married on August 20, 2009, this Court would not hesitate to find that a meretricious or equity relationship existed for the 20 years plus prior to the date of marriage." (CP 412) However, the trial court concluded that because "there was no ability for domestic partners to accumulate or create community property in California until

January 1, 2005, and in Washington until the 2008 amendment to the Domestic Partnership statute (RCW 26.16 et sq), [then] prior to those dates there is no legal basis for finding an equitable relationship to exist without violating the constitutional rights of the parties." (CL 4, CP 373)

The trial court held as a "matter of law that an equitable relationship [only] existed between Dr. Walsh and Ms. Reynolds during the time from January 1, 2005 to August 20, 2009," (CL 6, CP 373) and as a consequence awarded Reynolds only half of the parties' "joint retirement" (approximately \$81,532); \$46,000 in retirement in her name; \$43,046 from an investment account; personal property; and 48% of the sale proceeds from the family home, after a \$40,000 "offset" to Dr. Walsh for her "separate" contributions. (CP 443-45) The trial court also awarded attorney fees of \$35,000 to Reynolds under RCW 26.09.140 based on her need and Dr. Walsh's ability to pay. (CP 437-38)

Although she left the parties' 22-year relationship with all of the remaining assets from their \$2 million-plus estate — at least three times the assets awarded Reynolds — Dr. Walsh appealed. (CP 446) Reynolds cross-appealed the trial court's refusal to recognize the community-like nature of assets acquired during the parties' entire relationship beginning in 1988. (CP 492)

4. Division Two reversed, holding that the trial court erred in limiting the application of the equity relationship doctrine to the period after the parties would have had property rights under California law.

Division Two succinctly described each party's appeal: "Each party seeks a greater share of the assets than the trial court awarded. More specifically, Walsh argues that the trial court should have applied community property law more narrowly, i.e., only to assets acquired as of their Washington domestic partnership registration on August 20, 2009 (thereby decreasing the community assets available for distribution and leaving a greater share of assets as her separate property). Reynolds argues that the trial court should have applied community property law more expansively, *i.e.*, to assets acquired from the beginning of the parties' relationship in California, 1988 (thereby increasing the community assets available for distribution and increasing her share of property)." (Opinion 2)

Division Two agreed with Reynolds, holding that the trial court erred in "fail[ing] to consider the common law and its application to the parties' 'equity relationship' that existed before

California's 2005 statutory recognition of such relationships, despite explaining that had Walsh and Reynolds been [in] a legally recognized heterosexual marriage, it would not have hesitated to find that a meretricious or 'equity relationship' existed for 20 plus years prior to marriage." (Opinion 20-21, emphasis in original) Division Two further held that Washington's Domestic Partnership Act "did not erase the parties' 'equity relationship' that already existed before they registered as domestic partners in Washington." (Opinion 17-18) Division Two affirmed the award of fees to Reynolds in the trial court, awarded Reynolds need-based fees on appeal, and remanded for redistribution of the parties' estate.

C. GROUNDS FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

1. Division Two's decision that the equity relationship doctrine could apply prior to the parties' registration as domestic partners is consistent with the domestic partnership statute and compelled by decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Division Two properly held that the equity relationship doctrine could be applied to characterize property acquired prior to the date that the parties were granted statutory property rights as domestic partners. This decision was not an "expansion" of the equity relationship doctrine. (Petition 5) It is wholly consistent

with three decades of case law and the Legislature's intent when it enacted the statutes governing domestic partnerships.

As early as 1949, this Court held that "when [an equity] relationship terminates in a valid marriage and that marriage terminates in divorce, the trial judge may be [] justified in treating such property [acquired during the equity relationship] as though it belonged to the community." *Bodine v. Bodine*, 34 Wn.2d 33, 36, 207 P.2d 1213 (1949). Thirty-five years later, in *Marriage of Lindsey*, 101 Wn.2d 299, 304, 678 P.2d 328 (1984), this Court held that the court *must* consider property accumulated during the parties' equity relationship when dividing the assets at the end of the parties' subsequent marriage. In other words, *all* the parties' property was available for distribution at the end of their relationship.

That these parties' equity relationship terminated in a domestic partnership, rather than a "valid marriage" as in *Bodine* and *Lindsey*, is irrelevant. The Legislature created domestic partnerships to ensure "equal treatment" between registered domestic partners and married spouses. RCW 26.60.015. The creation of domestic partnerships did not impact the common law, including use of the equity relationship doctrine to characterize

assets acquired by the parties before their domestic partnership. To the contrary, RCW 26.60.060(2) specifically provides that "nothing in chapter 156, Laws of 2007 [Domestic Partnerships] affects any remedy available in common law." See also RCW 26.60.010 ("Chapter 156, Laws of 2007 does not affect marriage or any other ways in which legal rights and responsibilities between two adults may be created, recognized, or given effect in Washington.")

Dr. Walsh's petition ignores this controlling law, claiming that "to treat unmarried parties as if married, but only with regard to the distribution of property at the termination of the relationship, contravenes the public interest to allow individuals to organize their lives as they choose, foisting upon them a distribution that does not result in equity." (Petition 12) Dr. Walsh also claims that application of the equity relationship doctrine "removes the ability of unmarried individuals to choose how one acquires property at the time of acquisition." (Petition 13; see also Petition 7: "the parties intentionally organized their lives consistent with their awareness that they did not (and could not) have a legal marriage.") Dr. Walsh's arguments are premised on at least three faulty principles, each of which have been expressly rejected in decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals:

First, these parties were not merely "unmarried individuals." They were in an equity relationship, "a stable, marital-like relationship where both parties cohabit with knowledge that a lawful marriage between them does not exist." Connell v. Francisco, 127 Wn.2d 339, 346, 898 P.2d 831 (1995). The equity relationship doctrine has been used to characterize the property of same-sex couples such as Dr. Walsh and Reynolds since at least 2001. Vasquez v. Hawthorne, 145 Wn.2d 103, 107, 33 P.3d 735 (2001) ("equitable claims are not dependent on the 'legality' of the relationship between the parties, nor are they limited by the gender or sexual orientation of the parties."), reversing 99 Wn. App. 363, 994 P.2d 240 (2000); see also Gormley v. Robertson, 120 Wn. App. 31, 83 P.3d 1042 (2004); Relationship of Long, 158 Wn. App. 919, 244 P.3d 26 (2010).

Second, Dr. Walsh's proposed "rule" would be a return to the Creasman presumption that this Court expressly rejected in Lindsey. Worse, Dr. Walsh urges this Court to impose the Creasman presumption solely on same-sex couples, despite the Legislature's expressed intent that same-sex couples and heterosexual couple be given "equal treatment." See RCW 26.60.015.

In Creasman v. Boyle, 31 Wn.2d 345, 356, 196 P.2d 835 (1948), this Court held that property acquired by "a man and woman not married to each other, but living together as husband and wife, is not community property [and] belongs to the one in who name the legal title to the property stands." After years of criticism, this Court overruled Creasman in Lindsey, holding that the courts must examine the property accumulations during the equity relationship and "make a just and equitable disposition of the property." Lindsey, 101 Wn.2d at 304. As a consequence of the Lindsey decision, "[i]ncome and property accumulated during [the] relationship should be characterized in a similar manner as income and property acquired during marriage," "all property acquired during [an equity] relationship is presumed to be owned by both parties," and this property is "subject to a just and equitable distribution." Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 351.

Dr. Walsh's argument that applying the equity relationship doctrine to property acquired before the parties registered as domestic partners in Washington is somehow an impermissible "retroactive application of a common law doctrine" (Petition 13, 15), or that applying the equity relationship doctrine to same-sex couples "presumes they could or should have known to acquire and

hold property in a different manner" (Petition 13), is no different than any argument that could have been made by any of the economically advantaged litigants in *Lindsey*, *Connell*, *Vasquez*, or *Gormley* who sought to deprive their partners of any interest in property acquired during cohabitation. Use of the equity relationship doctrine is not limited to cohabitants who "know" that the property they acquire might be considered community-like property in the event of the parties' separation.

In Gormley, for instance, there was not yet any legal precedent in Washington applying the equity relationship doctrine to same-sex couples when the parties separated in 1998. To the contrary, Division Two had held in Vasquez that the equity relationship doctrine could not apply to same-sex relationships while the Gormley litigation was pending, and Gormley and Robertson were presumably not on "notice they could be deemed to acquire community-like property." (Petition 15) Nevertheless, Division Three affirmed the trial court's equitable decision awarding Gormley a lien of 30% of the equity in a home purchased in Robertson's name. Gormley, 120 Wn. App. at 38, 39.

Third, both parties have rights in property acquired during their cohabitation, and application of the equity relationship doctrine to assets acquired before the parties registered as domestic partners does not deprive a cohabitant of any "vested property right." (Petition 15-16) See Olver v. Fowler, 161 Wn.2d 655, 168 P.3d 348 (2007); Witt v. Young, 168 Wn. App. 211, 275 P.3d 1218, rev. denied, 175 Wn.2d 1026 (2012). This Court held in Olver that a deceased female cohabitant had an undivided interest in the couple's jointly acquired property even though it was titled in the deceased male cohabitant's name. 161 Wn.2d at 670, ¶ 30. Division Two in Witt recognized that a cohabitant had her own interest in property accumulated during an equity relationship. In Witt, the male cohabitant died intestate. His female cohabitant was not a creditor of his estate but was asserting her existing interest in property held by the male cohabitant's estate, and thus not making a "claim against the decedent" to which the time limits in the non-claim statute applied. Witt, 168 Wn. App. at 221, ¶ 22.

Division Two properly remanded to the trial court to consider the parties' equity relationship and their property accumulations prior to 2005. This Court should deny review because Division Two's decision is wholly consistent with the domestic partnership statute and compelled by decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

2. The Court of Appeals properly awarded attorney fees based on Reynolds' need and Dr. Walsh's ability to pay. This Court should also award Reynolds fees under RAP 18.1(j).

The Court of Appeals also properly awarded Reynolds attorney fees on appeal. RCW 26.60.015 provides that "for all purposes under state law, state registered domestic partners shall be treated the same as married spouses" and that "the provisions of chapter 521, Laws of 2009 shall be liberally construed to achieve equal treatment, to the extent not in conflict with federal law, of state registered domestic partners and married spouses." This includes providing for an award of attorney fees under RCW 26.09.140 when one partner has the need and the other has the ability to pay.

Dr. Walsh complains that the Court of Appeals had no authority to award attorney fees because its decision "was dedicated to the application of the equity relationship doctrine." (Petition 17) However, as she concedes (Petition 17), the equity relationship issue directly impacts the property distribution upon the dissolution of the parties' domestic partnership. The Court of Appeals' authority to award attorney fees under RCW 26.09.140 is in any event not limited because the parties litigated claims related to their equity relationship. The language of the statute is broad,

and there is no authority for the proposition that the Court of Appeals could not award attorney fees solely because the issues litigated include claims under the equity relationship doctrine. See Seals v. Seals, 22 Wn. App. 652, 657-58, 590 P.2d 1301 (1979) (awarding attorney fees under RCW 26.09.140 for the wife's separate partition action against former husband).

The cases cited by Dr. Walsh do not support her claim that the Court of Appeals could not award attorney fees, because the parties in those cases never married. See Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 344; Western Comm. Bank v. Helmer, 48 Wn. App. 694, 740 P.2d 359 (1987) (Petition 18-19). In any event, the Court of Appeals decision dealt with more than just application of the common law equity relationship doctrine. The Court of Appeals also interpreted the Domestic Partnership Act and whether Reynolds' equitable claims would result in a purported "retroactive application" of the Act. (See Opinion 15-18, 19-21; see also Cross-Appeal Br. 26-33)

The Court of Appeals properly awarded attorney fees to Reynolds, and this Court should also award attorney fees to her for having to answer the petition under RAP 18.1(j), which provides that a party awarded attorney fees in the Court of Appeals is entitled to fees in successfully defending a petition for review in this Court.

D. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review and award Reynolds her fees in this Court under RAP 18.1(j).